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PLAINTIFFS’ MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF 

SUPPLEMENTAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

AS TO COUNTS IV, V, VI, AND VII 

I.
INTRODUCTION AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On June 22, 2001, Plaintiffs Frank Krasner Enterprises, Ltd., d/b/a Silverado Promotions and Silverado Gun Show (“Silverado Promotions”), RSM, Inc., d/b/a Valley Gun and Police Supply (“Valley Gun”), and Robert D. Culver, Individually and on behalf of a Citizens Group called “Montgomery Citizens for a Safer Maryland,” (“Mr. Culver”) filed suit against Defendant Montgomery County seeking to have § 57-13 of the Montgomery County Code declared unconstitutional.  

On May 16, 2001, Montgomery County passed § 57-13 of the Montgomery County Code which effectively bans guns shows in the County by prohibiting funding to and sanctioning any exhibition facility that allows a gun show.  Plaintiffs claim § 57-13 is unconstitutional and should not be enforced.  Plaintiffs have sued for declaratory relief (Count I); 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (violation of commercial free speech) (Count II); violation of Maryland Declaration of Rights, Article 40 (commercial free speech) (Count III); 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (violation of non-commercial free speech) (Count IV); violation of Maryland Declaration of Rights, Article 40 (non-commercial free speech) (Count V); 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (violation of equal protection) (Count VI); and injunction (Count VII). 


Simultaneous to the filing of the Complaint, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts I, II, and III, and a memorandum in support.  Subsequently, the parties agreed, with the consent of the Court, to an expedited briefing schedule whereby the case will be submitted on cross motions for summary judgment for “final disposition of the case as to liability only, without the need for discovery.”  (Exhibit G – Mr. Garrett’s July 27, 2001 correspondence to the Court and Exhibit H – Memorandum of the Court dated July 27, 2001).
  The understanding of the parties is that there are no disputes of material fact that require the need for discovery.  Under the agreed upon briefing schedule, this is Plaintiffs’ Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment as to the remaining counts in the Complaint -- 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (violation of non-commercial free speech) (Count IV); violation of Maryland Declaration of Rights, Article 40 (violation of non-commercial free speech) (Count V); 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (violation of equal protection) (Count VI); and injunction (Count VII).


Under Counts IV and V of the Complaint, Plaintiffs seek to have § 57-13 declared unconstitutional because it infringes upon the free speech rights of Plaintiffs.  Specifically, Plaintiff Culver and a group he represents, Montgomery Citizens for a Safer Maryland (“MCSM”), attend the Silverado Gun Shows in Montgomery County to engage in pure political speech related to firearms and other issues.  Plaintiff Culver and MCSM distribute informational leaflets, solicit signatures for petitions to local, state and federal governments, and organize letter-writing campaigns to politicians and governmental entities.  Section 57-13 creates an effectual ban on all gun shows in Montgomery County.  Plaintiff Culver and MCSM have no viable alternative venue to reach the attendees who normally would attend such shows and are interested in the issues presented by the group.  Thus, while § 57-13 appears on its face to be content-neutral and not specifically targeted at speech, the provision has the clear incidental effect of burdening the free speech rights of Plaintiff Culver and MCSM.  As an incidental restriction on free speech, § 57-13 should be examined under the four part test in United States v. O’Brien, 391 U.S. 367 (1968).  Under this test, § 57-13 fails because it does not further a substantial governmental interest and the restriction on free speech is greater than is essential to further the alleged governmental interest.  Thus, the Court should find § 57-13 unconstitutional under the First Amendment.


While on its face, § 57-13 appears content-neutral and not directed at speech, there 

may be evidence that the law was targeted at free speech and expression.  In an April 18, 2001 article in The Baltimore Sun, an individual is quoted as saying, “They’re not worried so much about the gun sales.  They’re worried about gun shows as a center for political organizing.”  (See attached Exhibit M – Timothy B. Wheeler, Montgomery County Debates Proposal To Ban All Gun Shows, The Baltimore Sun (April 18, 2001)).  In response to this statement, the President of the Montgomery County Council and co-sponsor of the bill, Blair Ewing “seemed to agree” and stated: “These are not benign places.  The one I went to had a good deal of hate literature – racist and anti-Jewish.  People don’t like that in Montgomery County.” Id. (emphasis added).  Such a public statement by the President of the County Council and co-sponsor of the bill, clearly indicates an improper and ulterior motive to ban gun shows unrelated to the sale of firearms.  The motive being to ban not just the sale of guns but the “gun culture” that surrounds gun shows.  At gun shows people assemble and talk about guns, the right to keep and bear arms, and politics involving guns, they display literature on the right to keep and bear arms and guns, and sign up people to join organizations sympathetic to the rights of gun owners.  The "gun culture" is pure free speech and expression protected by the First Amendment.  If the co-sponsor’s public statements are to be believed, § 57-13 is a content-based attack on free speech that should be examined under the strictest of scrutiny and declared unconstitutional because it does not serve a compelling governmental interest.

Further, under Count VI, the Court should find that § 57-13 does not survive 

constitutional scrutiny under the Equal Protection Clause because the provision does not 

advance a legitimate governmental interest and there is no rational relationship between the law and the governmental interest asserted.  There is no evidence in the legislative record that gun shows in Montgomery County pose any threat to public safety.  Without any evidence that this gun show ban created by § 57-13 would further such interest, the law should be declared unconstitutional under the Equal Protection Clause.  


Lastly, under Count VII of the Complaint, Plaintiffs seek a permanent injunction under Maryland law to prohibit Montgomery County from enforcing § 57-13.  The gun show ban created by § 57-13 in Montgomery County will cause irreparable harm to Plaintiffs’ reputation and goodwill built up over ten years of holding shows in Montgomery County for which there is no adequate remedy at law.  Plaintiffs request that the Court declare § 57-13 unconstitutional and enter a permanent injunction against its enforcement in Montgomery County.  Judgment should be granted in favor of Plaintiffs.

II. BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs’ incorporate and adopt by reference herein the Background (Section II) set forth in to Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts I, II, and III.

III.
ARGUMENT

A.
Section 57-13 Should Be Declared Unconstitutional Because It Infringes Upon The Free Speech Rights Of Plaintiffs Culver and Valley Gun.


Before arguing that this Court should apply the intermediate-level O’Brien test to § 57-13 (Section III.A.3, infra), this Memorandum discusses the free speech rights exercised by Plaintiffs at the gun shows in Montgomery County (Section III.A.1, infra), and how the law acts as a ban on gun shows in the County (Section III.A.2, infra).  Section III.A.4 then explains why the Court should find § 57-13 unconstitutional under the O’Brien test because it does not serve an important and substantial governmental interest, and how the law does not properly further the alleged interest.  The next section argues that the new law may not be content-neutral, but actually content-based and targeted at free speech and expression at gun shows (Section III.A.5, infra).  The last part of this section argues that § 57-13 infringes upon Plaintiffs’ rights to assemble under the First Amendment as an additional basis to declare the law unconstitutional.

1. The Free Speech Rights of Plaintiffs Culver and Valley Gun at Silverado Gun Shows in Montgomery County.

Montgomery County defines a “gun show” as “an organized gathering where a gun is displayed for sale.”  (See Exhibit A -- § 57-1 Montgomery County Code).  In reality, however, a gun show is much more than a simple display of firearms for sale. Silverado Promotions rents approximately 250 tables. (Exhibit C – Krasner Affidavit ¶ 7). The shows are a collector's lawful marketplace for books, outdoor equipment, clothing and firearms.  Only approximately 20% to 25% of the tables are rented to federal firearms dealers. The other tables are rented to other businesses selling firearms and related merchandise, and various groups and organizations that distribute information related to the use, possession, or sale of firearms. Id. 


The shows at the Agricultural Center are an occasion for a substantial amount of non-commercial speech and association. (Exhibit C – Krasner Affidavit ¶ 8).  Political organizations distribute leaflets, recruit members, and engage in various forms of non-commercial speech.  In addition, military and history enthusiasts attend the shows in large numbers and hold discussions on noncommercial topics including history, politics and technical information concerning firearms.  Id.

Plaintiff Valley Gun, a federal firearms licensee, was a regular exhibitor at the gun shows in Montgomery County that not only sold firearms, but also discussed the use of firearms and appraised firearms. (Exhibit D – Abrams Affidavit ¶ 4).

Since approximately 1998, Plaintiff Robert Culver regularly had a table at the gun shows in Montgomery County for a citizens group which he is a part of called MCSM. (Exhibit D – Culver Affidavit ¶ 4).  The group is dedicated to education on public safety issues, law enforcement issues, and the right of home and personal self-defense pursuant to the Second Amendment of the United States Constitution.  Id.

At the gun shows, two or more MCSM members have used this table space to display and distribute material of interest to the attendees and as a focal point for their interaction with the attendees.  (See Exhibit L attached – Culver Supplemental Affidavit, ¶ 4). Attendees who are waiting outside to enter the show are also approached and handed general interest flyers describing the special interest material and projects to be found inside at the MCSM table.  The table display includes literature and flyers prepared by MCSM, arranged on the table and in free standing literature racks.  Video material is presented by way of videotape playback and draws numerous people to watch specific video segments.  Materials presented to the attendees for signature are presented on clip boards.  Id. 

As a MCSM member, Mr. Culver stands and greets each attendee who approaches the table area. (See Exhibit L attached – Culver Supplemental Affidavit, ¶ 5).  MCSM representatives speak with the attendees and answer questions on a multitude of issues including but not limited to public safety, the various laws and enforcement, and the right and duty of personal, home, and community defense by various means as enumerated in the Second Amendment to the Constitution.  Id.
Mr. Culver speaks with attendees, provides them with materials and copies of published MCSM letters, and encourages them to write letters to the editor, legislators, businesses, etc. on Second Amendment rights and other issues. (See Exhibit L attached – Culver Supplemental Affidavit, ¶ 6). He talks to attendees about current petition and letter drives, targeted at government officials, agencies, advertisers and elected legislators relating to Second Amendment rights and legislation as well as other related issues.  MCSM regularly conducts a “Letters to Legislators” drive at shows when pending legislation warrants such events.   Upon reading and discussing petitions and letters, the attendees sign them, personalize the letters, and address them for mailing.  Id.
MCSM maintains a large display of material on its table and also on a literature rack.  (See Exhibit L attached – Culver Supplemental Affidavit, ¶ 7).  The display contains pamphlets, articles, and other information and material, such as voter registration information, related to the issues discussed with the attendees at the shows.  The material serves as a source of information, motivation, example, encouragement and, in addition, material they can use for public display of their ideas and affiliation.  The material is handed out free to the attendees.  Id.

The Silverado gun shows in Montgomery County provide a unique forum for MCSM because as a Montgomery County based group, they are able to meet individuals face to face who are interested in listening and participating in the issues they discuss. (See Exhibit L attached – Culver Supplemental Affidavit, ¶ 8).  At recent shows, face to face discussion resulted in over 3,000 petitions being signed in 6 days of show,  generated approximately 600 letters to Montgomery County advertisers, generated nearly 500 letters hand delivered to each of approximately 15 members of Congress, resulted in dozens of voter registrations, and other similar signature critical activities.  Id.

There are no other gun shows in Montgomery County.  There is no suitable alternative venue available to MCSM and its members in the County where their group   could reach such an audience as attends these gun shows. (See Exhibit L attached – Culver Supplemental Affidavit, ¶ 9).

2. Section 57-13 effectively ban guns shows in Montgomery County.

Section 57-13 was clearly intended to ban gun shows in Montgomery County.  In the minutes for the legislative session on May 16, 2001, when Bill 2-01, “Gun Shows,” was passed, the comments of one councilmember was noted: “With respect to the subject bill, Mr. Silverman said the issue before the Council is gun shows, and he believes there is no need for gun shows in the County.” (See attached Exhibit I at 4).  Section 57-13 has two parts.  Section 57-13(a) prohibits the County from giving any financial or in-kind support “to any organization that allows the display and sale of guns at a facility owned or controlled by the organization.” (Exhibit A).   Section 57-13(b) sanctions any organization that allows the display and sale of guns at their facility by requiring the organization to pay back the County any financial support received plus interest. (Exhibit A).  

“Financial or in-kind support” is defined as “any thing of value that is not generally available to similar organizations in the County, such as a grant, special tax treatment, bond authority, free or discounted services, or a capital improvement constructed by the County.”  § 57-13(a).  The definition is so broad in scope as to deter any private organization in the County from holding a gun show.  The Agricultural Center, who Plaintiffs allege has received $500,000.00 from the County in financial support, canceled all future gun shows at the facility after the passage of § 57-13. (Exhibit B).  Like the Agricultural Center, no other private facility in Montgomery County is going to risk losing funding by hosting a gun show.


Further, the sworn evidence is undisputed that without the ability to “display” and “sell” firearms at a gun show, there would be no gun shows.  (See Exhibit J attached – Krasner Supplemental Affidavit, ¶ 7) (“Based upon my experience in promoting gun shows over the last ten years, it is not possible to hold a gun show without the ‘display and sale of guns.’”); (See Exhibit K attached – Abrams Supplemental Affidavit, ¶ 3-4) (“To attempt to have a gun show at which no guns could be sold or displayed would be a disaster.  I can guarantee that any such show would draw no attendees, either exhibitors or buyers”).  Thus, § 57-13 acts as an effective ban on all gun shows in the County as it was intended.

3.
Section 57-13 Acts As An Incidental Burden On The Free Speech And The Court Should Apply The O’Brien Test.


While § 57-13 targets gun shows, on its face the law does not regulate free speech or expression.  The provision, however, creates an effectual ban on gun shows in Montgomery County, and thus, creates a chilling affect on the free speech rights of citizens’ groups like MCSM which set up tables at these shows to speak with gun show attendees.  Section 57-13 on its face only regulates the “display and sale” of firearms at certain facilities in Montgomery County and as such the law may be labeled a “content-neutral restriction” because it limits speech “without regard to the content or communicative impact of the message conveyed.”  Geoffrey R. Stone, Content-Neutral Restrictions, 54 U. Chi. L. Rev. 46, 48 (1987).  Examples of content-neutral restrictions are laws that restrict noisy speeches near a hospital, ban billboards in residential communities, limit campaign contributions, prohibit the destruction of draft cards, or prohibit leafleting or posting signs.  Id.  These examples of content-neutral restrictions, however, directly target speech.  Section 57-13 falls into another category of content-neutral restrictions.  Section 57-13 is a law that primarily aims at nonexpressive activity (gun shows), but in its application incidentally restricts free speech that takes place at the shows.


The seminal case addressing the issue of content-neutral incidental restrictions on the freedom of expression is United States v. O’Brien, 391 U.S. 367 (1968).  In O’Brien, David O’Brien was convicted in federal court for burning his selective service registration certificate on the steps of a South Boston Courthouse. Id. at 369-70.  O’Brien burned his registration card as part of a demonstration symbolizing his anti-war beliefs.  Id.  The Court noted at the outset of the case that the federal law prohibiting the destruction of the draft cards “plainly does not abridge free speech on its face. . . .  [The federal law] on its face deals with conduct having no connection with speech.  It prohibits the knowing destruction of certificates issued by the Selective Service System, and there is nothing necessarily expressive about such conduct.” Id. at 374.   The Court noted, “This Court has held that when ‘speech’ and ‘nonspeech’ elements are combined in the same course of conduct, a sufficiently important governmental interest in regulating the nonspeech element can justify incidental limitations on First Amendment freedoms.”  Id. at 376.


In upholding the federal law and O’Brien’s conviction, the Court articulated a four-part test for examining the constitutional validity of incidental restrictions on First Amendment freedoms:

. . . [W]e think it clear that a government regulation is sufficiently justified if it is within the constitutional power of the Government; if it furthers an important or substantial governmental interest; if the governmental interest is unrelated to the suppression of free expression; and if the incidental restriction on alleged First Amendment freedoms is no greater than is essential to the furtherance of that interest.

Id. at 376-77.


The Court in Arcara v. Cloud Books, Inc., 478 U.S. 697 (1986), addressed the issue of whether the First Amendment bars enforcement of a statute authorizing closure of a premises found to be used as a place for prostitution because the premises were also used as an adult bookstore.  Id. at 698.  In Arcara, the owners of an adult bookstore were found liable for nuisance under a New York public health law because prostitution and other various illicit sexual activities were found to have taken place on the premises.  Id. at 698-99.  Pursuant to the nuisance law, the property was closed down for one year.  The owners argued that the nuisance law was unconstitutional because it infringed upon their First Amendment rights to operate an adult bookstore.  The New York Court of Appeals subjected the nuisance provision to the O’Brien test, and held that the law’s application to the bookstore was unconstitutional.  The Supreme Court reversed and found that “the First Amendment is not implicated by the enforcement of a public health regulation of general application against the physical premises in which respondents happen to sell books.”  Id. at 707.  The Court distinguished their case with O’Brien and explained why the test was not applicable: “. . . unlike the symbolic draft card burning in O’Brien, the sexual activity carried on in this case manifests absolutely no element of protected expression.” Id. at 705.


The Arcara Court attempted to define the circumstances under which the courts should apply First Amendment scrutiny under the O’Brien test to generally applicable content-neutral laws which have the incidental effect of burdening expression.  The Arcara Court stated:

It is true that the closure order in this case would require respondents to move their bookselling business to another location. Yet we have not traditionally subjected every criminal and civil sanction imposed through legal process to "least restrictive means" scrutiny simply because each particular remedy will have some effect on the First Amendment activities of those subject to sanction. Rather, we have subjected such restrictions to scrutiny only where it was conduct with a significant expressive element that drew the legal remedy in the first place, as in O'Brien, or where a statute based on a nonexpressive activity has the inevitable effect of singling out those engaged in expressive activity, as in Minneapolis Star. This case involves neither situation, and we conclude the First Amendment is not implicated by the enforcement of a public health regulation of general application against the physical premises in which respondents happen to sell books.

Id. at 706-07 (footnote omitted).


One commentator summarized the status of the law on incidental restrictions on free speech after Arcara:

The general presumption is that incidental restrictions do not raise a question of first amendment review.  The presumption is waived, however, whenever an incidental restriction either has a highly disproportionate impact on free expression or directly penalizes expressive activity.  And the later exception is applied quite liberally whenever the challenged restriction significantly limits the opportunities for free expression.

Geoffrey R. Stone, Content-Neutral Restrictions, 54 U. Chi. L. Rev. 46, 114 (1987).


This Court should find that the application of § 57-13 in this case implicates the First Amendment and apply the O’Brien test.  Section 57-13 implicates the First Amendment under both scenarios set forth by the Arcara Court.   Section 57-13 as applied has a highly disproportionate impact on the free speech of Plaintiffs because the law targets gun shows.  Thus, the law has the effect of singling out those who attend these shows both as exhibitors and attendees and exercise their rights to free speech. 

Further, § 57-13 has the direct effect of penalizing Plaintiffs’ free speech at gun shows.  The Arcara Court cited two cases in this category that involved “governmental regulation of conduct that has an expressive element.” Arcara, 478 U.S. at 703-04.  The Court applied the O’Brien test in both cases, stating:

In Clark v. Community for Creative Non-Violence, 468 U.S. 288, 104 S.Ct. 3065, 82 L.Ed.2d 221 (1984), we considered the application of a ban on camping and sleeping in Lafayette Park and on the Mall in Washington, D.C., to demonstrators who sought to sleep overnight in these parks as a protest of the plight of homeless people. Again in United States v. Albertini, 472 U.S. 675, 105 S.Ct. 2897, 86 L.Ed.2d 536, (1985), we considered a protester's conviction for reentering a military base after being subject to an order barring him from entering that establishment based on his previous improper conduct on the base. In each of these cases we considered the expressive element of the conduct regulated and upheld the regulations as constitutionally permissible.

Id. at 704.  Thus, the Arcara Court embraced the holding in Albertini as an example of when the courts should apply the O’Brien test to incidental restrictions on free speech.  


No cases have been found which address the facts presented in this case, but Albertini is closely analogous and provides the appropriate analysis consistent with O’Brien and Arcara.  In United States v. Albertini, 472 U.S. 675 (1985), Albertini, a civilian, obtained access to a military base and vandalized property in 1972. Id. at 677.  He was issued a formal “bar letter” from the commanding officer which stated that Albertini was banned from the property and could not re-enter the military base without permission.  Id. at 677-78.  Nine years later the military base was having an annual open house to celebrate Armed Forces Day, and the public was invited to the base.  Id. at 678.  Albertini entered the base during the open house with four friends to engage in a peaceful demonstration criticizing the nuclear arms race and passing out leaflets. Id.  Albertini was arrested for violating a federal statute for re-entering the base without permission after receiving a “bar letter.” Id. at 679.  

One of the issues raised by Albertini was that the First Amendment bars his conviction under the federal statute because he had a right to hold signs and distribute leaflets at the base during a public open house. Id. at 684-86.  The federal statute at issue was content-neutral and did not regulate expressive activity. Id. at 687.  The statute simply penalized Albertini for re-entering a military base without permission after being banned.  Although the statute was content-neutral and did not target speech, the Court found that the First Amendment was implicated because the statute acted as an incidental burden on Albertini’s free speech rights to distribute leaflets at a public open house at the base. Id. at 687-90.  The Court applied O’Brien and stated:

Section 1382 is content-neutral and serves a significant Government interest by barring entry to a military base by persons whose previous conduct demonstrates that they are a threat to security. Application of a facially neutral regulation that incidentally burdens speech satisfies the First Amendment if it "furthers an important or substantial governmental interest; if the governmental interest is unrelated to the suppression of free expression; and if the incidental restriction on alleged First Amendment freedoms is no greater than is essential to the furtherance of that interest." United States v. O'Brien, 391 U.S. 367, 377, 88 S.Ct. 1673, 1679, 20 L.Ed.2d 672 (1968). . . .

Id. at 687-88.  Under the O’Brien test, the Court found that the federal statute was valid and affirmed Albertini’s conviction.


In this case, similar to Albertini, § 57-13 is a content-neutral regulation that does not on its face target speech.  Like Albertini, the Montgomery County law acts as a ban on property (no gun shows).  The ban on gun shows in Montgomery County created by § 57-13 has a substantial chilling effect upon Plaintiff Culver and MCSM’s free speech rights at such shows.  As such this Court should find that the First Amendment is implicated and, like the Albertini Court, should apply intermediate level scrutiny as set forth in O’Brien.  See also Connection Distributing Co. v. Reno, 154 F.3d 281, 292 (1998) (statute may be stricken as unconstitutional under First Amendment if it has substantial chilling effect upon protected speech).

4.
Section 57-13 Should Be Declared Unconstitutional Under the O’Brien Test.
Section 57-13 does not survive constitutional scrutiny under the four part test in O’Brien.  The first element of the test is that the government regulation must be within the constitutional powers of the government.  O’Brien, 391 U.S. at 376.  Plaintiffs do not dispute the fact that Montgomery County has the power to enact laws that are for the health, safety and welfare of its citizens, and that Montgomery County has broad authority to make decisions regarding its spending of County funds. 
   


The second prong of the O’Brien test states that the regulation will be justified if it “furthers an important or substantial governmental interest.” Id. 
In this case, Montgomery County’s asserted governmental interest is not substantial.  Montgomery County argues that “[t]he display and sale of guns at gun shows provides immediate access to guns in a place of public assembly, increase the proliferation of guns, and facilitate illegal gun sales.”  (Defendant’s Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Preliminary Injunction at 19).  The alleged interest in addressing concerns 

regarding “the immediate access to guns in places of public assembly,” and that gun shows “facilitate illegal gun sales,” completely lacks any factual bases or support in the legislative record in Montgomery County.  There is absolutely no evidence that any gun shows that have occurred in Montgomery County have facilitated illegal gun sales.  No such evidence is contained in the legislative record.  To the contrary, Mr. Frank Krasner, the owner and President of Plaintiff Frank Krasner Enterprises, LTD., d/b/a Silverado Promotions and Silverado Gun Show, who has been the operator of the gun shows in Montgomery County for the last ten years states that:

In the ten years that Silverado Promotions has been organizing and promoting gun shows throughout Maryland, there have been no arrests, firearms violations, incidents of violence or other problems at any of the shows, including the shows that have taken place in Montgomery County.  Silverado Promotions has strict security at all gun shows and complies with all State, Federal, and local laws with regard to the display and transfer of firearms.  This includes strict compliance with the law that requires all firearms purchasers in Maryland to undergo the same waiting period and background checks as customers who purchase firearms in stores.

(See Exhibit C, ¶ 12).


Further, Montgomery County failed to cite the current Maryland laws regarding the sale and transfer of firearms at gun shows.  Maryland has some of the strictest gun control laws in the country that require background checks and a seven-day waiting period for the purchase of  “regulated firearms.”  Additionally, Maryland has closed alleged gun show loopholes by requiring all such background checks and the seven-day waiting period at gun shows for “regulated firearms.”  Article 27 § 442 of the Annotated Code of Maryland, regarding the sale and transfer of regulated firearms, states, in pertinent part:  

(c) Sale by regulated firearm dealers -- no regulated firearms dealer shall sell, rent, or transfer any regulated firearm until after seven days shall have elapsed from the time an application to purchase or transfer shall have been executed by the prospective purchaser or transferee, in triplicate, and the original copy is forwarded to the prospective seller or transferor or to the Secretary. 

(d) Sale by other than regulated firearms dealer -- (1) a person who is not a regulated firearms dealer may not sell, rent, transfer, or purchase any regulated firearm until after 7 days have elapsed from the time an application to purchase or transfer shall have been executed by the prospective purchaser or transferee, in triplicate, and the original copy is forwarded by a regulated firearms dealer or to the Secretary.

Md. Code Ann. Art. 27 § 442(c)-(d) (Vol. 2, 1998 Supp.). 


Pursuant to Article 27 § 443A(b), regarding the sale and transfer of regulated firearms at gun shows, any sale or transfer of a regulated firearm from a table or fixed display at a gun show shall be governed by the provisions of Sections 442 and 442A of this Article. Md. Code Ann. Art. 27 § 443A (Vol. 2, 1998 Supp.).  A “regulated firearm” includes a “handgun” and “assault weapon” as defined in § 441. Md. Code Ann. Art. 27 § 441 (Vol. 2, 1998 Supp.). 

Montgomery County ignores the fact that Maryland law prohibits the immediate sale of handguns and assault weapons at gun shows.  Maryland law requires a background check and a seven-day waiting period at all gun shows.  


In its Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Preliminary Injunction, Defendant improperly argued that “there is increasing evidence that gun shows facilitate illegal sales and gun trafficking.”  (Defendant’s Memorandum at 19).  Montgomery County cited two reports from the Johns Hopkins Center for Gun Policy and Research in 2000, and a joint report issued by several federal agencies in 1999. Id. Reference to these reports and allegations of illegal sales and gun trafficking are improper because no such evidence was presented before the Montgomery County Council when the bill was passed, nor were these reports part of the legislative record.  It is improper for Montgomery County to cite reports that were never relied upon and  could not have served as the asserted governmental interest when the bill was passed.

The only interest asserted in the legislative record is a generalized interest in banning gun shows and the access to guns.  The minutes of the Montgomery County Council meeting on May 16, 2001, when § 57-13 was enacted, reflect the asserted governmental interest.  (Exhibit I).  The minutes summarize the positions of some of the County Councilmembers on the gun show Bill 2-01.

The position of County Council Vice President Steven A. Silverman was summarized as follows:

Mr. Silverman said that the issue before the council is gun shows, and he believes that there is no need for gun shows in the County.  He pointed out that there are many gun shops in the County where individuals can look at guns and purchase them if they choose to do so, and if people want to go to gun shows, Mr. Silverman suggested that there are gun shows in other areas of the Metropolitan-Washington Region.  In his opinion, the Council should do everything it can to prohibit or discourage the holding of gun shows in the County through some type of funding restriction such as restriction contained in the legislation.

(Exhibit I, at 4).        


Councilmember Derick Berlage’s comments on Bill 2-01 were summarized as follows:

Councilmember Berlage explained that the purpose of the subject bill is to regulate the sale and transfer of guns, not to make the operation of the fairgrounds more difficult. . . .  Mr. Berlage said that he believes the bill is needed because guns are far too freely available in this country and are the cause of many deaths and injury not only from crimes of violence but from accidental shootings as well. . . .  He said that in his opinion, the bill introduced by Mr. Ewing will help reduce the availability of guns and the likelihood that these guns will fall into the hands of people who use them in acts of violence or in accidental shootings.

(Exhibit I at 5).

The views of President of the County Council Blair G. Ewing, who co-sponsored the bill, were summarized as follows:

President Ewing expressed the view that the attitude concerning guns is steadily changing throughout the United States, and he believes that it is clear that the County residents do not want guns to be easily available, accessible, or on display in public places.  He said in a poll about guns published in the Gazette Newspaper and sponsored by WTOP Radio and the Baltimore Sun Newspaper, 68 percent of those responding said that they would like to see all hand guns banned. . . .  Mr. Ewing explained that the purpose of the bill is to reduce the easy availability of guns, and although it restricts the location of gun shows, it is not targeted at the fairgrounds.

(Exhibit I,  at 5). 


Thus, the only asserted interest by Montgomery County in passing § 57-13 is a generalized interest in limiting the access of guns by banning gun shows in Montgomery County.  While this general goal may sound good, such an interest is nether substantial, legitimate, nor real because there is no evidence in Montgomery County linking the sale of firearms at gun shows in Montgomery County to crimes of violence and accidental shootings any more than if they been sold in a gun shop by a federal firearms licensee.  In fact there is no evidence that there is any problem at all.


In Nordyke v. the Santa Clara County, 110 F.3d 707 (9th Cir. 1997), the Ninth Circuit applied the Central Hudson test to an addendum to Santa Clara’s lease of the fairgrounds to a gun show operator which prohibited the sale of guns at the fairgrounds.  In analyzing the gun sale ban in the addendum to the lease, the Ninth Circuit stated:

Whether the addendum “directly advances the governmental interest asserted” must be answered negatively.  It is, to repeat, neither an ordinance nor a ban on gun shows.  At most, it merely reflects certain concerns about the proliferation of guns and their use in the commission of crimes, while permitting the continuation of gun shows at the Fairgrounds.  As Judge Ware noted, “by banning gun sales only at the Fairgrounds, the Board achieves nothing in the way of curtailing the overall possession of guns in the County.”

Id. at 713 (citations omitted).  


In Northern Indiana Gun and Outdoor Shows, Inc. v. Hedman, 104 F.Supp.2d 1009 (N.D. Ind. 2000), the United States District Court for the Northern Division of Indiana found that a Civic Center’s “no gun” policy survived scrutiny under the Central Hudson test.  The Hedman Court held:

Whether the “no guns on the premises” policy in this case directly advances the stated governmental interest in providing a reasonably safe convention center and whether the policy is no more extensive than necessary to serve that interest are close questions, but the court believes  the policy survives those inquires.  The testimony from people who provided and supervised security at the gun show conflicted as to whether safety is a concern at gun shows with guns and ammunition.  The court finds that the city’s concerns about safety in the Century Center  are valid concerns and constitute a substantial governmental interest.  The court also finds that the “no weapons or ammunition on the premises” policy serves that interest narrowly.

Id. at 1015. In Hedman, there was evidence in the record that there were safety issues regarding persons being injured and risk of fire because of individuals smoking at the gun shows, and there were safety issues regarding exhibitors not tying down weapons.  Id. at 1015-16.


In this case, unlike in Hedman, there is no evidence of any safety issues at the gun shows in Montgomery County.  These concerns do not exist because Mr. Krasner operats under guidelines that prevent these issues from arising.  The Ninth Circuit decision in Nordyke is more on point.  Montgomery County’s generalized interests in limiting the accessibility of firearms to county residents is nether substantial, legitimate, nor real because there is no evidence in Montgomery County linking the sale of firearms at gun shows to crimes of violence and accidental shootings.  The Court should find that § 57-13 does not further an important or substantial governmental interest under the O’Brien test.


The third prong of the O’Brien test is that the governmental interest must be unrelated to the suppression of free expression.  O’Brien, 391 U.S. at 376.  On the face of  § 57-13, the law does not relate to the expression of speech.  Section 57-13 acts as an effective ban on gun shows but does not target speech or expression directly, only the “display and sale” of guns.  


The last prong of the O’Brien test is that the incidental restriction on the alleged First Amendment freedoms must be no greater than essential to the furtherance of the governmental interest. Id.  In United States v. Albertini, the Court characterized this prong as follows, “Instead an incidental burden on speech is no greater that is essential, and therefore it is permissible under O’Brien, so long as the neutral regulation promotes a substantial government interest that would be achieved less effectively absent the regulation.” 472 U.S. 675, 689 (1985).  Section 57-13 fails to meet the last prong of the O’Brien test because there is no evidence whatsoever that such a ban on gun shows in Montgomery County would promote the asserted governmental interest of limiting access to guns that may be used by people in acts of violence or in accidental shootings in the County.  Without any showing in the legislative record that such a gun show ban would promote the asserted governmental interest, the incidental restriction on free speech is not justified.  Thus, the Court should find that § 57-13 is invalid under the O’Brien test.


Montgomery County may rely upon Northern Indiana Gun & Outdoors, Inc. v. Hedman, for the proposition that the taking of guns into a civic center is not political speech entitled to First Amendment protection.  104 F.Supp.2d 1009, 1012–14 (2000).  In Hedman, Plaintiff challenged a policy at the civic center that stated that there shall be no guns on the premises.  One of the constitutional challenges to the policy was that the policy infringed upon Plaintiff’s First Amendment rights of “political speech.”  In Hedman, there was only one Plaintiff, Northern Indiana Gun and Outdoor Show, which sponsored and promoted the shows.  While the facts of the case indicate that the National Rifle Association of America (“NRA”) had a booth at the Northern Indiana Gun and Outdoor Shows, recruited members, and informed members on its position on legislation at the gun shows, the NRA was not a party to the case.  Plaintiff argued that the “no weapons on the premises” policy constituted an abridgement of expressive activity. Id. at 1013.  Thus, the issue became whether having firearms on the premises in any way constituted expressive conduct protected by the First Amendment.  The Hedman Court did not address the free speech issues regarding the rights of groups such as the NRA who attended the shows.  The Court held that the evidence was not sufficient to support Plaintiff’s claim for abridgement of political speech.  The Court stated: “There was no testimony at trial from which it could be concluded that having guns on the premises conveyed a particular message to anyone. [Plaintiff] has not carried its burden of demonstrating that the conduct that the defendant seeks to regulate at the Century Center contains an expressive component; accordingly, [Plaintiff] has not shown that the First Amendment supports injunctive relief.” Id. at 1013–14.  Thus, the Hedman decision does not address the issue presented in this case as to whether Plaintiff Culver’s free speech rights are infringed upon by the gun show ban.  The Court should find that § 57-13 as applied to Plaintiff Culver does implicate the First Amendment and should apply the O’Brien test.


Montgomery County may also argue that § 57-13 “does not prohibit speech or expression of any kind” and does not “prohibit Plaintiff Culver or his group from discussing issues and providing information for gun owners.” (Defendant Montgomery County’s Memorandum in Support of Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction at 17 n.19).  Montgomery County ignores the incidental effects that § 57-13 has on Plaintiff Culver and MCSM by banning gun shows in Montgomery County.  The County will no doubt argue that Plaintiff Culver and MCSM could attend other shows at the fairgrounds, hold their own show, or set up a table on a public street corner.  The reality, however, is that Plaintiff Culver and MCSM cannot reach the same audience at a computer show as they can at gun show held at the Agricultural Center in Montgomery County.  The message conveyed and issues discussed by Mr. Culver and MCSM are related to firearms and gun shows.  That is why they attend. The message conveyed and issues discussed would have no relation to a computer show or flower show that was also held at the fairgrounds that attracted members of the community. With the passage of § 57-13, there will be no more gun shows in the County as the law intended, thus, infringing on Plaintiffs free speech rights to reach attendees at such shows.  Silverado gun shows are open to the public and take place at the Agricultural Center which Montgomery County has defined as a “place of public assembly.” (Exhibit A).  Thus, while the Agricultural Center is a private facility it is open to the public and essentially a public forum for free speech and debate.  Plaintiff Culver and his group thus have a right to attend such public gun shows to reach those individuals that attend the shows.  

The government could have made a similar argument in United States v. Albertini, 472 U.S. 675 (1985).  The government could have argued that Albertini has no free speech rights on the military base during a public open house because Albertini could have gone somewhere else to distribute his leaflets.  This fact did not change the Court’s analysis and they still found that the incidental effects of the “bar letter” implicated the First Amendment and the application of the O’Brien test was the correct analysis.  

The Supreme Court has recognized free speech rights where the speech bears some relation to the particular place of speech.  For example in Amalgamated Employees Union Local 590 v. Logan Valley Plaza, the Court held that a shopping center which served as community business block was freely accessible and open to the public was the functional equivalent of business block for First Amendment purposes, and the mere fact of private ownership in shopping center proprietors did not justify absolute injunction against peaceful non-employee picketing of store in center.  391 U.S. 308, 316–20 (1968); See also Hudgens v. National Labor Relations Board, 424 U.S. 507 (1976) (reversing Logan Valley). The Court recognized the importance of the location in the exercise of Plaintiff’s free speech rights in picketing.  The Court stated: “The picketing carried on by petitioners was directed specifically at patrons of the Weis Market located within the shopping center and the message sought to be conveyed to the public concerned the matter in which that particular market was being operated.  We are, therefore, not called upon to consider whether respondent’s property rights could, consistently with the First Amendment, justify a bar on picketing which was not thus directly related in its purpose to the use to which this shopping center properly was being put.” Id. at 320 n9.


In this case, the free speech exercised by Plaintiff Culver and his group are directly related to interests of gun show attendees.  Further, there are no suitable alternative venues in Montgomery County for Plaintiff Culver and his group to reach such audience.  The Court should find that § 57-13 unconstitutionally infringes upon Plaintiffs’ rights.

5. Public Comments By The Co-Sponsor Of The Bill Indicate That Section 57-13 May Be Targeted At Free Speech And Expression At Gun Shows.


While on its face, § 57-13 appears content-neutral and not directed at speech, there 

may be evidence that the law was targeted at free speech and expression at gun shows.  An April 18, 2001 article in The Baltimore Sun, titled “Montgomery County debates proposal to ban all gun shows,” read in part:

A February hearing on the measure was marked by catcalls and booing, primarily from opponents of the measure.  Some members of a group calling itself the “Tyranny Response Team” were on hand at yesterday’s council meeting, wearing Revolution-era tricorn hats.  They contended that the bill is part of a broad assault on firearm owners’ civil liberties, because the shows often offer a forum for opposing gun controls.

“They’re not worried so much about the gun sales,” Bill White said of the bill’s supporters.  “They’re worried about gun shows as a center for political organizing.”  

On that point, the council president seemed to agree. “These are not benign places,” Ewing said. “The one I went to had a good deal of hate literature – racist and anti-Jewish.  People don’t like that in Montgomery County.” 

See attached Exhibit M – Timothy B. Wheeler, Montgomery County Debates Proposal To Ban All Gun Shows, The Baltimore Sun (April 18, 2001) (emphasis added).  

Such a public statement by the President of the County Council and co-sponsor of the bill, clearly indicates an improper and ulterior motive to ban gun shows unrelated to the sale of firearms.  The motive being to ban not just the sale of guns but a ban on the “gun culture” that surrounds gun shows.  At gun shows people assemble and talk about guns, the right to keep and bear arms, and politics involving guns, they display literature on the right to keep and bear arms and guns, and sign up people to join organizations sympathetic to the rights of gun owners.  The "gun culture" is pure free speech and expression protected by the First Amendment.  If the co-sponsor’s public statements are true, § 57-13 is a content-based attack on free speech that should be examined under the strictest of scrutiny and declared unconstitutional because the law is not “a narrowly tailored means of serving a compelling governmental interest.” Consolidated Edison Co. of New York, Inc. v. Public Service Commission of New York, 447 U.S. 530, 535 (1980)

The First and Fourteenth Amendments remove "governmental restraints from the arena of public discussion, putting the decision as to what views shall be voiced largely into the hands of each of us, in the hope that use of such freedom will ultimately produce a more capable citizenry and more perfect polity . . . ." Id. at 534 (quoting Cohen v. California, 403 U.S. 15, 24 (1971)).  When a regulation is based on the content of speech, governmental action must be scrutinized more carefully to ensure that communication has not been prohibited "merely because public officials disapprove the speaker's views."  Id. at 536 (quoting Niemotko v. Maryland, 340 U.S. 268, 282 (1951) (Frankfurter, J., concurring in result)).

In examining the motivations of the government in when laws are challenged as unconstitutional, the Court has stated: 

Petitioners [School Board] rightly possess significant discretion to determine the content of their school libraries. But that discretion may not be exercised in a narrowly partisan or political manner. If a Democratic school board, motivated by party affiliation, ordered the removal of all books written by or in favor of Republicans, few would doubt that the order violated the constitutional rights of the students denied access to those books. The same conclusion would surely apply if an all-white school board, motivated by racial animus, decided to remove all books authored by blacks or advocating racial equality and integration. Our Constitution does not permit the official suppression of ideas. 

Board of Education, Island Trees Union Free School Dist. No. 26 v. Pico, 457 U.S. 853, 870 (1982) (emphasis in original).
Council President Ewing’s public comments clearly infer that gun shows bring people and ideas into the County that he believes the County does not want.  Such a motive for the gun show ban is both content-based and targeted directly at free speech and expression.  Thus, the Court should declare § 57-13 unconstitutional because the law is not narrowly tailored to serve a compelling governmental interest.

5. Section 57-13 infringes upon Plaintiffs right to assemble under the First Amendment.


Plaintiffs First Amendment claims encompass the part of the First Amendment that reads: “Congress shall make no law . . . abridging. . . the right of the people peaceably to assemble and to petition the Government for the redress of grievances.”  U.S. Const. amend I.  The right to assembly includes meeting for purposes that the government would like to target for eradication.  Schneck v. Pro Choice Network of Western New York, 519 U.S. 357 (1997).  “It is beyond debate that freedom to engage in association for the advancement of beliefs and ideas is an inseparable aspect of the ‘liberty’ assured by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, which embraces freedom of speech . . .  Of course, it is immaterial whether the beliefs sought to be advanced by association pertain to political, economic, religious or cultural matters and state action which may have the effect of curtailing the freedom to associate is subject to the closest scrutiny.”  NAACP v. Alabama ex rel. Patterson, 357 U.S. 449, 460-61 (1958).  “Effective advocacy of both public and private points of view, particularly controversial ones, is undeniably enhanced by group association, as this Court has more than once recognized by remarking upon the close nexus between the freedoms of speech and assembly.” Id.  “There can no longer be any doubt that freedom to associate with others for the common advancement of political beliefs and ideas is a form of  ‘orderly group activity’ protected by the First and Fourteenth Amendments.”  Kusper v. Pontikes, 414 U.S. 51, 56-57 (1973).


The rights of Plaintiff Culver and MCSM to freely associate at gun shows with members of the public in Montgomery County is completely hindered by the passage of § 57-13 because the law acts as a ban on shows in the County. (See Section III.A.2, supra).

The Supreme Court has held that there are two kinds of freedom of association that are constitutionally protected: intimate association and expressive association. Pi Lambda Phi Fraternity, Inc. v. University of Pittsburgh, 229 F.3d 435, 441 (2000).  The Court summarized these two forms of associational freedom in Roberts v. United States Jaycees, 468 U.S. 609 (1984): 

In one line of decisions, the Court has concluded that choices to enter into and maintain certain intimate human relationships must be secured against undue intrusion by the State because of the role of such relationships in safeguarding the individual freedom that is central to our constitutional scheme. In this respect, freedom of association receives protection as a fundamental element of personal liberty. In another set of decisions, the Court has recognized a right to associate for the purpose of engaging in those activities protected by the First Amendment -- speech, assembly, petition for the redress of grievances, and the exercise of religion. The Constitution guarantees freedom of association of this kind as an indispensable means of preserving other individual liberties. 

Id. at 617-18. 

In Boy Scouts of America v. Dale, 530 U.S. 640 (2000), the Court used a three-step process to analyze the Boy Scouts' expressive association claim. Pi Lambda Phi, 229 F.3d at 442 (citations omitted).  The Third Circuit summarized the test as follows:

First, the Court considered whether the group making the claim engaged in expressive association. . . .  The Court then analyzed whether the state action at issue significantly affected the group's ability to advocate its viewpoints. . . . Finally, it weighed the state's interest implicated in its action against the burden imposed on the associational expression to determine if the state interest justified the burden.

Id. (citations omitted).

First, Plaintiff Culver and MCSM are clearly a group engaged in expressive association. Second, § 57-13 significantly affects the groups ability to advocate its viewpoints because the law has the intended effect of banning all gun shows in the County and thus there are no suitable alternative avenues for the group to reach their intended audience.  Lastly, as set forth in detail above, the County has not asserted a legitimate interest that would justify the burdens the associational expression that occurs at the gun shows.  Thus, the Court should find that § 57-13 is unconstitutional under the free assembly clause of the First Amendment.
B.
Section 57-13 Violates the Equal Protection Clause.
Under Count VI of the Complaint, Plaintiffs Silverado Promotions and Valley Gun claim that § 57-13 violates the Equal Protection Clause.  (See Complaint ¶¶ 70-78).  The banning of the otherwise lawful (under federal and state law) display and sale of firearms at private exhibition facilities, such as the Agricultural Center, through the denial of financial support by Montgomery County improperly discriminates against individuals and entities that display and sell firearms without any rational basis or legitimate health, safety, or public welfare concern.

Under the Fourteenth Amendment, no State shall “. . . deny any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. In Hedman, the operator of a gun show brought a section 1983 action against the City, the Mayor, and Civic Center Officials, alleging that the Center’s “no gun” policy violated the operators’ constitutional rights under the First and Fourteenth Amendments.  104 F. Supp. 2d at 1010.  Plaintiffs in Hedman also made a similar equal protection claim.  In addressing plaintiffs equal protection arguments, the United States District Court for the Northern Division of Indiana stated:

To establish its claim that the defendants violated NIGOS’s right to equal protection, NIGOS must show that the Century Center treated NIGOS differently from equal persons or organization and that the “no weapons on the premises” policy of the Century Center either had no legitimate governmental purpose or did not have even a rational relationship to its legitimate governmental purpose.  See National Paint and Coatings Ass’n v. City of Chicago, 45 F.3d 1124, 1127-1129 (7th Cir. 1995)(applying equal protection standard to economic regulation). . . .

104 F.Supp.2d at 1017.    In Hedman, since the Court found that the policy met the Central Hudson test, the equal protection claim did not have any merit.  Id.


The Court should find that § 57-13 violates the Equal Protection Clause because it cannot withstand scrutiny even under the deferential rational basis test.  Even assuming for the sake of argument, that limiting access to guns is a legitimate governmental purpose, there is no rational relationship between banning gun shows in Montgomery County and limiting access to guns that are used in crimes of violence or accidental shootings in the County.  No showing has been made by Montgomery County that  banning lawful gun shows in the County will decrease the availability of guns and their use in violent crimes and accidental shootings.  Without any nexus whatsoever,  § 57-13 should be declared invalid.

C.
Under Count VII of the Complaint the Court Should Enter a Permanent Injunction Regarding the Enforcement of § 57-13. 
   
Under Count VII of the Complaint, Plaintiffs seek a permanent injunction against Montgomery County from the enforcement of § 57-13 based on its constitutional infirmities.  Under Maryland Law an “injunction” means a order mandating or prohibiting a specified act.  See Rule 15-501(a).  As set forth in this memorandum and Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts I, II and III, § 57-13 should be declared unconstitutional under the First Amendment as it violates commercial and non-commercial free speech rights of Plaintiffs.  Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable injury to reputation and goodwill built up over ten years of gun shows in Montgomery County for which there is no adequate remedy at law.  Thus, Plaintiffs seek a permanent injunction against the enforcement of § 57-13 by Montgomery County.    

IV.  CONCLUSION


For the reasons set forth above, Plaintiffs respectfully request that their Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts IV, V, VI, and VII be granted.
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� Exhibits A through F are attached to Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts I, II, and III.  The exhibits attached to this Supplemental Memorandum are continued in order.


� Plaintiffs have alleged under Count I of the Complaint for Declaratory Relief that Montgomery County is without the power to regulate gun shows in the City of Gaithersburg because it violates the Tillie-Frank law.  See Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in Support of the Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts I, II and III.


� There are nine members of the Montgomery County Council.  Bill 2-01 passed by a narrow margin, 5-4.
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